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e Rape eof Garhwal

By
Dr; Shive Prasad Dabaral "“Charan"

‘ We shall now present an account of the events that occurred
in Garhwal after the 1849 Samvat (A.D. 1792) treaty was signed
with the Gorkhalis, - - .

The Gorkhalis had signed the treaty, which stipulated
peyment of a tribute amounting to only Rs. 3,000 a year, because
of the crisis they Were facing as a result of the Chinese invasion
At that time, it was not possible for the Gorkhali army to be
involved in & protracted war for the conquest of Garhwal. But
as soon ad® the crisis was over, Gorkhali military commandars
started acting in contravention of the treaty. The government
of Nepal had signed two treaties with the Bast India Company
in similar circumstances, which it violatcd at the first availsable
opportunity. 1If the government of Nepal could weal in that manncr
with the powerful Bast India Company, the Kingdom of Garhwal,
weak and térn by internal dissersions, could hardly expcecet a better
treatment.

Acbording to Maularam (“Rana Bahedur Chanarika", unpublished
MS.), the Gorkhalis werc able to occupy Garhwal only after nine
years of continuous figntingi This means that they had started
viclating the terms of the trcaty avout two years after it was
signed, that is, around A.D. 1794. The Gorkhalis made repeated
attempts to occupy Langurgarh, but without suc¢cess. Their
¢ommanders in xumasun encourdged their troops to make frequent
raids into Garhwal's territories. Records available at the
District Magistrate's Office &t Paudi Show how the Gorkhali
rajders ruined the country, massacred the inhabitants in a
barbarous manner, or sSold them as slaves. They set fire to
houses and destroyed villages.

- It was pot possible for the king of Garhwal, Pradyumna

Shah, to station troops all aleng the frontier. Because of the
chaos prevailing in the kingdom, and the depredations of Parakrams
Shah, he had very few troops lecft. Consequently, the inhabjitants
of the border areas had no alternative but to make their own
Security arrangements. They had fraquent encounters with the
Gorkhalis, with much ecruclty on both sides.

The annual tribute of Rs. 3,000 stipulated in ths A.D. 1792
treaty was soon raised to Rs. 3,000 on varicus pretexts. The
King of Garhwal had also to bear the expenses of the hepal
Wakil and his staff. Nepali officizls frequently visited places
of pilgrimage in the Himalayan region, and stopped at Srinagar
in order to receive gifts vefitting their rank. All this raisad
the amount paid to the Court of Nepal to about Rs. 25,000 =
year, aecording to Edwin T. Atkirson.

:Because of this heavy economic burden, a terrible famine
ravaged the kingdom of Garhwal in A.D. 1795. Thousands of people
died, and thousands more sold themselves into slavery. The famine
further worsencd the economic condition of Garhwal and there



was delay in paymert of the annual tribute to Nepal. There

wab fio money even to meet routine administrative uxpenses, Captain
Hardwick, who visited Srinagar in 1796, has recordcd thot
Pradyumha Shah had become so poor that he had no money ozven to
meet his psrsoncl necés and was wearing ordinary clothes.
Bxtensive areas had beccome desolate. Pradyumne Shah was even
mortgaging villages in Garhwal to borrow money from the Badrinath
temple fund or from moneylenders. Even then; there is no evidenée
that his finanecial condition improved.

Even before the second Gorkhali invasion (A.D. 1803),
Garhwal hed fallen into utter amerchy. A virtusl civil war
raged in the capital and the adjoining areas., Maularam has
8iven an eye-witness account of ths situation in his work
Ganika.Natake.. He has recorded that Parakrama Shaha's atrocitics
had reached their climax from early A.D. 1800. He increased
the size of his army and struck terror in the minds of Pradyumna
Shah @nd his ministers. Pradyumna Shah was unable’ to prntect
his subjcects from the atrocities of- parakrzma Shahza. Any one
who mentioncd Pradyumna Shah's name became an object of Parckrama
Shaha's anger. Parakrama Shah began to issue his own ordars,
superseding those of the King., ' Hz took away any beautiful gird
who attracted him, and looted gold rsnd other wealth from any
house he liked. He thus ushered in what was virtually Ravana-Raj
in Srinagar. Persakarama Shah considsred leot and sdultery a
rrowess. No woman was Safe from him, irrespcctive of her caste
or status. If any person was found to be keeping a concubine,
she was teken away from him as a punishment, - Moreover, his
property was confiscated, and members of his family were enslav.d.
Maularem had o bea utiful concubine named Laxmi, who hud lived
with him for Seven year For that offensec, his property,
ineluding his jagir, comprising fourteen villages, were tanfiacataa.
Laxmi was taken away, and he was imprisoncd. Maularam's
petitions, which he submitted to Parakrema Shah from' jail,
were igmered. He was freed only after spending about Six months
in jail snd paying a fine. However, his concubine was not -
restored to him, -

Parakrama Shah 8cvercly punished any person who wes 2
supporter of the Ring, Pradyumna Shah. Ministers who™suiported
Pradyumna Shah were thus afraid that perakrama Shah  would
have them murdered whenever possible. . Accoréingly, they began:
to reeruit troops om Prédyumna Shah's instructions. rradyumna
Shah's supporters incluaca Ramspati Khandudi, Devan Mohan
Simha, three Negi clem® , and their followers, whercas Shishram
Sekalani and his orother, Shivarsm Szhelani, Raedha Guru,
Chitrameni, Srivilasa Neutiyal, and Dhaukalansnda were the
Chizf supporters of Parakrama Shah. .

Parakrama Shah told Prodyumna Sheh: "This XKingdom
(Garhwal) belongs to me: 1 have acquired it by killing Jayakirti
Shah. Our father hcd given you the kingdom of Rurmachala
(kumaun).* why do not you go there ? I have toleratcd meny
things because you are my =lder orother. If you do pmot do what
1 say, I will deal with you in the same manner as with Jayakirti
Shah."” With great clevernzss, Parakrama Shah took possession of
the royel palece and b.gsn to live there. Consequently, Predyumna
Shah was unabl: to come out of the palace snc meet his supporturs
Once he tried to coms out, but was stopped by Parakrama Shah.



Predyumna Shah's supporters then tried to contaet Raj
Kumnr Sudarshen Sheh, a brave ona courzgeous youth of 16 or 17
years of age. Ramep.ti nhondudi sent him & secret meSsage
informing him thet his father wes being kept in confinement
by pParbkrema Shah ard requesting him to come out of the palace
gnd meet his supperters. He zlso promised to place Sudarshan
8hsh on the thronse. Sudarshan Shah tien secretly 1:ft the pelcce
and met Remcpatl khandudi. He then sent & message to Parckrama
Sheh asking him to leave the royal palsce, or ¢lsSe mcet his
nephew (%.e. Sudarshan Shah) on the battle-fielad.

Parakrame Sheh; However, remcined in the royzl palace,
while his supporters, and those of King 2friudyumna Sheh and
Rej kKumar Sucarshan Shah, fought with sach other. Bach side
stanrted pluncering the houses of the other side. If they could
not get in, they would pull down thé roof and gotes and set
them on fire. They also fought with bows and arrows at severszil
places. This eontinuca for two months. According te lMzaularzm,
thousands of people were killed on voth sides. In the beginning,
Sudarshanr Shah was victorious in the sSrinzgar region, but
rerakrama Shah remsined in control of the roysl palace. Some
of his troops ¢neampea ¢t Ranih:st across the Ganga river, from
where they used to conduct surprise attacks on the foreus cf
Sudarsh-'n Shah. Finally, the two sides fought a pitched battle
at & place nuear Srinagsr. Meny cmong Parakrama Shah's troops
were killed, and the rest fled to Devaprayzg, with the troops
of Sudershen Shah pu-suing them. The Gorkhali troops who h:d
been recruited in Pradyumnse Snah's sermy fought bravely; and so
did his Rohilla troops, @nd his Commander Miza (khan). The
Rohilla troops used to open concerted fire with their muskets,
wvhich emitted o pcll of smoke in the battlefiecld: The battle
was won by Sudarshan Sheh. Meany scoldiers of rparakrama Shah who
triz4 to eross over to their camp at fanihat across the Ganga
river were washed away by the river when the suspensicn rope
wes cut. Some fled to the forests, while others flad to
Devaprzyag and Herdwer. The otherswere encirelzd by Sudershan |
Shah's forees, Finding no way out, Parckeomz Sheh approsached
the King in teers and requested him to restrain his soldicrs.
He begged for pearcen and promised to obey the ning in the future.
Pradyumuns Sheh was & simpie-minded man, so he pardoned rarakremc
Shah and orderea fighting to b: stopped.

But when Sudurshen Shah ond his forces left, Perakrama
Shah summoned his troops from Ranihat =2t micnight to Srinagar
znd laid sieze to both the town and the royal palace. He told
Pradyumna Shah that the trocps would continuz to do so unless
the latter sentenced his ministers to death ¢nd gave him
territories extencing from Badrinath to Hardwar on the right
banks of the Alsksnanaa river, lesving territories on the left
benks of the river to rradyumna Shah. rowerless to resist,
Prodyumna Shah accepted the partition plin and ordered that
necessary documents be prepared. It was also decided to levy
& nazarane payment amounting to 25 rupees for ench Jyuls of
lard. A list of soldiers who wer:e to ve sent for cocllscting the
levy wos 2130 compiled.



parakrems Shah ordered Srivilasa Nautiyal to nint coins in
his nome; but dies were ot eveileble. Moularsm wes then orderad
%0 make dies and mint coins. He muGe the diss but expressed his
ihability to mint coins, ond requestad thet his concubine, laxmi,
be restored to him. Dorokrams Shch accepted the dies but did not
return the concubine.

parakrame Shoh took awoy pPradyumna Shah to Ranihat, &nd then
ordercd the rope vridge or the river to be cut. He also started
meking -rrengement8 for the cdministration of the country. Pearing
a Ganger to his life, Pradyumna Shah scecretly sent ¢ meSSenger
to contect his supportaers in Srineger. He navised them to strike
2 bargaein with Parakrama Shch and seccure his relesse. Ramapeti
kHzndudl enu other ministers, on r:caiving this nessage, met
SudorBheon Shah und discussed means to cross the river cnd reach
Ranihst. '

Meanwhile, the Gorkhsli Wakil, whose nome was Chzrichaladhara
aceording to the Gerh Rejya Vamsha-kearyz, resched thers., He szid
he had been Sent by the king of hepzal to mediate in the disputs
between pradyumna Shoh and Prarckrame Shah. The Nepzli Wakil
elso threatenad to banish or sentence to de=th or imprisonment,
any one who disobayed his orders.

_ in asddition, the Eepali wakil sent a message to Parakrama
Shah asking that the rope bridge on the Alaskananda river be
reinstalled, So that he might cross the river. Parakrema Shah
ﬂiq_so and invited the wakil to a meeting with grezt cordiality.
The Wakil read out 2 rcyal order which szid, “We have granted the
Kingdcm of Gerhwal tu Pracdyumne Shah. You have not done well by
imprisoning him. Release him €S Socn as you receive this order,
Otherwise, our %rcops will vaunquish you und reinstate Pradyumna
Shah on the throme.® Pzrakruma Shah, however, warned the MNepzli
wek3l that the Gorkholis would find it difficuit to stay on in
Kumeun if they opposed him. He donicd that he hed kept Pradyusna
Shah in confinemont, znd claimed that both be and Pradyumma Shzh
hed beon driven out of the ceépital by ihe ministers,

Fhanks to the medistion of the Nepali Wekil, an agroement
was corncluded smong Pradyuanza Shah,Parckrama Shah, and the ministers.
Both sideS disbanded their iroops, Przdyusma Shah roturped to Srinagor.
Those who hrd fled from thet fown alsc roturned therc. Tre Nepdal
Wokil then left for kumsun.

Notwithstanding the zgreement, the tussle between Perskrana
Shah -rd Preaavumme Shah's ministers econtimmed. Parakrems shah
once mors eollected trocps eénc laid siege to the royal palaee.
The king's party then sent & messcge to sam Shah rogquesting him
to send beck the Wekil to Srimagnr. Bam Shah d4id so apg osked
Pradyumme Shah to meet him =i Badhzn Gedhi, Pradynmpa Shah end
his mingster, Mcohen Singh, accompanicd oy their troops, rcached.
Badhan-Gadhi, Bom Shzh too reeched there from kumaun. Hershadeve
Joshi's son, Jaya keroyan Joshi, seems to heye been imprisomed
2long with his Gerhwali troeps =t Johor u few days ecrlier.
Pradyumna Shah hd no hend im sending them there, but they haa
proceeded to Johar through Garbwel and hoo tried to orgomize a



rebellicr irn support of Rin g hndur Sheh in Deti. Howsver,
Bran Shih suspeetcea 2radyumnc Shoh's invalvoment in the affalr
buesuse Jay:. Lorayan Joshi wes :cerumprri:d by Grrhwali tr-cps,
ona 2lsc oboecause Horshrodeva Jioshl h-rd introduecd himsclt to
Cherry and cther officinls of the Bast India Company as Wekil
of the king of Garhwal. Bem Sheh angrily told Pradyumna Sheah,
"We had conquered your Kingdem in 1850 samvat (A.D, 1793), but
hed retained you on the throne @t our will. We will how dsfend
our territ cry ourselves. Thore is no naed why you Should
jmeintein =n army. We shzll dérive them out. Go to Garh and
enjoy life there,

Prodyumna Shah came to the ennclusion that the Court of
Nepcl wanted to establish its asuthority over Garhwal. He was
aven afreaid of his life. Accompani:d by his minister, he,
therefore, left Badhen-Godhi for Srincgor sceceretly at midnight.
Hoe deeided t:- leove Srinager for some safe plaece before the
Gorkhali srmy recehed there. Next morning, the Gerhwali troops
were surpriscd to find that both the king and the minister had
filed. Bam Shah told them: You did not fight in defense of
the Kingdom or for its cxpension, put only cbtained your salaries.
Whotever wmay have happened in the post, we have now ceceupicd
your kimngdom. 1If you went to save your lives, leave this place
at onee. Otherwise, ycu will hove to repent. Your property
will be plundered ¢nd you will be sentenced to death. Frightcned
at this, the Grrhwali troops 1l:ft Bachan-Gadhi for Langur.

Before Pradyumns Shch reached Srinsger, Parekrame Shah h=d
left for a meeting with Bam Shah through Salan. Probably necr
Dwarikhal he received .nformction thet Pradyumne Shah's treops
had arrived there. He procecde¢a to Langur, and there won over
the troops to his side by giving them some money. It Seems thot
the Rohilla, Pothen, ond other mercemeries did not hesitote to
betray their mister for money.

At Srinsgor Pradyumns Shah wes told that Parakrama Sheh
hed already left for langur. He wanted to inform Psrakramn
Shah that the Gorkhslis were plunning to oecupy the kingdom of
Gorhwel, and to diseuss their own plans for the future. Pradyumnsc
Stah, therefore, sernt Rameopsti khenduai to Parakrams Sheh requestif
him to come to Srineger after disbanding his troops. Remzpeti
Khantdudi reached the village of Ramdi Phrlinds mesr Langur where -
Porckrama Sheh was staying. Both Ramopati Khendudi snd Dhearsnidhof
Khendudi were supporters of the king, Pradyumna Shah. Sudarshan
Sheh had been =bl: to prevent Porakreme Shah from oceupying the
Kingdom of Gerhwel as ¢ result of Ramnpati Khandudi®s aetive
cooperation. Parckroms Shoh and Rampati Kh ndudi werc, thersfore,
not on good terms with ecch other. Rampati Khindudi spert the
night in the company of » prostitutce, ond was ussassinctcd there
by Parakrrme Shch's men. The prestitute went tc Parckrems Shah
to save her own life. Parakrems Shoh was very pleascd to seeo
her cnd begaen to caress her. He thon acvenced toward Srinagar
long with his trocps. He wrnted to assassinacta Dhornidher
khendudi also. The lztter's infilucnce in the Court of king Prodyu
Shoh had grown when in Ail: 1792 he hed suececded in negotirting
8 treaty with the hing of Nepnl 2nd sccuring freedom of the .
caslaved inhcbitents of Selcn. Parckroma Shnh, snd his supportsersi
ineluaing Shishrem, Shivaram, onc Dhoukalonende were, therefore,



Jealous of Dharanidhar Khonduai and were censpiring to have

him assassinated. dven beforé reaching Srincger, Porckrama
Sheh had this dcne throu. h Dhrukalsnarda. It is said that
Dheykalananda told Dharanidhar Khondudi thet Pradyumna Shah had
Summoncd him. Dhercnicher Khandudi immedisately zcecompanied

him unarm¢d. Dheukalsnand suddenly attack.d him with a swoerd
at a place ealled Shitala-kKi-Reti on the bznks of the Alskanonda
river, and bchezoed him.

(To be continucd. )

(Souree: Dr. Shive Prasad Dabrrel "Charen", Uttarakhanda Ka
Rajenaitika Tatha Samskritike Itihesa, Part V: Xumaun,

erhwal, Aur Himachale Par Gorkhali Shasana, Samvat 1847-1872
A.D. 1790-1815), Dogodha, Garhwel: Vir-cathe Prakashan, 2030

(A.D. 1973), pp. 107-117. |
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Hastadal Shahi

Hestazadal Shahi wes an illegitimatc son of girabahu Shah,
and gr:ndson of Chondrorup Shah. The latter was a grand-uncle of
king Prithvi Narayan Shah. Bam Sh:h ané Rudrevir Sh=h, who
occupied ‘prominent position in district administration during
the last ycars of the eighteenth contury and the early years of
the ninetcenth century, were Hostsdal Shahi's older snd younger
brothers respectively. ' .

(Purceval Landon, Nepal,
("Gencalogical Teble of the Ruigning (Shzh) Family of Nepal,"
at the cnd of Perceval Landen's Mhepal, Vol. 2).

HastadalShahl was appointed chi:f aaministrotor of Garhwal
on Shrawan badi 8, 1867. Refercnces ars 7.8 fnllows :-

1. "Royal oradr Regarcing Appointment of [astadal Shahi'as
Amongt Administrator of Garhwal", Shrawan Badi 7, 1867.
Regmi Rescarch Collection, Vol. 39, pp. 288-89.

2. "Royzl grder to Sardar Chandrauvir hanwar And Others Regarding
Appointment of Hastadal Shrhi os Administreator of Garhwal",
Shrawan B«di 7, 1867, Ibid, pp. 280-81.

3. "do. tc Meahont Hari Sevok endg others," do, lbid, p. 280.

4. "Regulations for Torai Arers of Gorhwal in the Neme of Subba
Hrstadal Shehi," Shrawan Bedi 7, 1867, Ibid, pp. 281-88.

5. "Royal orcer tc Subba H-stedal Shahi Regerding Confiscation
of Jegir and Manschzmal Lands in Doon", Shrawan Badi 8,1867,

Ibid, p. 290.
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17. dc. of Chhipis ‘ ces Rs 2-4
18. do. of liguor me;cﬁants .+« -~ Rs 2-8B
19. do. of Kushle Pradhen oo Rs 2-8
20. do. of N{ddlemen (dalal) cee Rs 7-8
21. do. of Tafhﬂuhaike | ces R . 1-15.
22, do. of Tol Mahﬁne T vos " 1-0

-

23. do. of thtaidar of Gardens (bari) o
ﬂnd P(I}ds (Eqkhﬁr ) ] ..-a R 1-8

Jestha Sudi 15, 1859
‘Regmi Research Collection, Vol. 24, ip. 534-34.

* %% X

he Rape cf Gorhwal
By '
Dr._Shive Prasad Daberal "Charan®

(Continued)

Pradyumna Shsh wes deeply grieved to know that both Ramapati
Khandudi and Dharnidhar khandudi had bezn assassinated, anc
that pParskrama Shah was approaching Srinagar along with his
~troonps. ‘He was.also afraid. that a men who could assassinate

the loyal Brahman brothsrs cculd treat his King in the same
manner. Praiyumna Shah, therefore, reported these matters to
Bam Shah and appealsd fcr help. According to Nepali sources,

it was at-this time that the Nepalil envurniﬂ'Srinagar; Dalabir
Rang, rebelled against his government. Meuleram hss cade no
reference to this event, but has only rdcordcé that the Gorkhali
trcops sided with Budarshan Shah in ‘his struggle ageinst Parakrama
Shah. It 1s possibla that these trcops were the bodyguards- -
of the Nepeli envoy. King Pradyumns Shah had been making delay
in the payment of the annual tribute to Nepal for some years

" past’, Bam Shah repcrted the matter to his government. This
provided & favoraole- uppnrtunity to execute the plan- to take

. Over @Garhwal in order tc resclve the financial crisis facing
the government of Nepal and also kaep the army angaged. j"_

A terrible earthquake occurred in Garhwal- and’ Eumaun at
about 1:30 L.M. on Septewber 8, 1803. Tremors continwed for a
Week, Garh was more serdiously: affectad by the eerthqueke than

Kumaun, Many buildings in Srinagar were Sese¢rely damaged,
1ncltding the rcyal palacs. There i&i also annaidarabla loas
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af life end property. The general belief vwas that the calamity
had ocecurred becsuse of the essassinaticn of the twe innocent
srahnans, Remapeti Khendudi anu Dhoranichar kKhendudi.

On his return fronm fadhen-Gadhi, Predymmna 8hah decidecd to
flee from the capital, Srincger, before the Gorkhali troops
reached there. Thinking thnt the Gurkhalis would cccupy only
the territories zdj :ining the slakananda river, he plenned to
take refuge in Doon. Empercr auranggeb had granted the Docn
valley and the porgonna of Chondi to Pradyumna Shah's ancestors,
Fouzdar Unnmed Singh o orn was Prodyumna Shah's son-in-law,
and the Gujar ruler of Lendhour, Ram Dayal Singh, was his friend.
Morecver, Pracyumna Shah hr¢ granted territories in Doun as
Jegir 1o the Reos of hhedi, Sskhnrzundz, and Ralpur. Miyan Dulel
Singh of Prithivipur, Surajsm Singh of Dhalanwela, and several
other influential pers ns »f the Doin Valley were 8pecially aevoted
tc Predyumne Shah. He may hove peliceved that he would be able
t- sten the Gorkhali suvance with the help of th:se persons.
Predyumna Shah, thercefore, ccllected important documents from
the stete archieves, which incluced firmans issued by the Mughal
gmperrr, with which he could substantiate his cleim over the Dcen
valley, the prrgenna of Chendi, and the Kingdom of Garh. It is
possible thﬂg EE Sent away the royal throne, ornaments of the
prdrinath temple which he hed coteined on loan, and other
valusble objeets through his wrother, Pritam Shah, his sons
Sugershan Shah «né Devi Siwhn, end other trusted perscns to
the Dcon - valley by way of henihet meross the “lakananda river.
1t may be notec thoi there were royel palaces at Nawaws end Dehra
alsoc.

Meanwhile, Perskrams Sheh =na Pradyumna Shah remained in Srinagar
Herikrishna Ratuai, in his work Garhwal Ka Itihasa (Hindi), writes
that . Perskrana Sheh's wife hoo 1.1t for Hondur a few mrnths
previcusly to join her brether, wnem Sheran Das, While Pritam
Shah was not yet married. However, Harikrishna Ratuci has wrongly
reportec that Pracyumns Shah's wife had already died. His
Chief Queen, Mandrrsliji, whoe wes also known £3 Kumoauni Reani,
wos the mother of Sudorshan Shah, She remaincd alive for several
years cofter his coronsation,Sucorshen Sheh had built a separate
house for her neer his palsce in the capital, Tehri. The house
was long known a3 "Mendoraliji-ka-hotha.®™ The Bichitra Shah
Library in Tehri is in posszssion of & document which contains
the names of people with whom Sudershan Shah used to correspond.
The list mentions "Bandarnliji®, instead of "Mendaraliji®*. -
Pradyunnd Shah hcd two other quecns besides Mandaraliji. One
of them wes the caughter of Ajab Singh Guleriya, while the other
w.8 the sister of Keual Miysrn. They must heve accompanied
Mendaraliji hoa they been alive at that time. There must also
hove been some slrves of bocth sexes,

Suds¥shan Shrh wes seventeen or elghteen years old at that
time. He was orave, smbitious, =na gagrecious. In contrast,Devi Singh
whom Herikrishna hatuci hes describedécs Pradyumna Shah's illegitimate
son, end Miyan Prem Singh (Gulcéost - Tabarikh kot Iig;;fgarggaﬁ),

£8 his son born of 2 slave girl, wos a peace-loving perscn . T
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two brothers were nf apbcut the some age. Devi Simha and Pritam
Shah dn not scem to hive ployed an active pert in the ennflict
betwe :n Parakrsma Shah and Sudarshen Shah. BSut Devi Simha
proveu & sincere and trusted well-wisher of Sudarshen Shah
auring his life in o<xile.

In those days, the ladies of high-cless families travelled
in palenguine. accordingly, uozens of porters and soldiers
must heve ocesmpanied the ladics of the royel family. Pradyumna
Sheh hcd raised cbout Rs, 150,000 by mertgeging the ornements
of the Bucrinath temple, ana zn sdditional Rs. 50,000 by selling
Somg of them. He is nnt likely to have paid the full
price for thuse valuable ~bjecets in viow of his misfortunes.
Because gold was cheap at thit time, the total weight of those
objecis must have been five or six mauncs, andé dozens of arm:d
men must have vccompaniecd the royal family for trensportation
ana sdfety. . .

: No information is availeble about the top-ranking persons
end officials whn accompanicd the royel family during the flight.,
on kartik Suci 15, 1865 (November 1808), Sudarshan Shah issued
a document in the name of his c¢o0k, Hiramani, which shovs that
noneg of those perscnrs whom Pradyumns Sheh hed favored with tax-
free larn "grants ance officizl posts stood by him at his hour

of misfortune. The Gorkhali tr..ops had not yet reached Srinagar
by the time when Predyumna Shen fled, Pradyumne Shah was in
contrcl of the state cnc it is likely that the intendad flight
was known to many pecple. It is, therefore, possible thet some
top-ranking pers:ns and officials had ccecompanied him, =nd

h:d disperscd after he wus Gefeated in the battle of Badahet,

or after he wes killec¢ in the battle uf khadbuda. Hiramani,

the cook, had sceompanisc the royal family, a8 also Kishen
Singh, Pradyumnc Shah's favorite attendant. Th:re may hove been

- Some others too in the royal pacty, but nothing is known about thom,

It 1s Iikely thet the royal party reached the Docn Valley
from Ranihat thrcugh the Maolethe-Takoli-Diul-Tiri route. At
Tiri or Tipri, thers was & suspension bridge on the Bhegerathi
river., The route then passcd through Chamiwakhal end Seklansa,
before crossing the Song rive: st s.9th'1l, where #he femous
fort of Nelapeni was located. The route then continucd in
the direction .of Nawada and Dehara., The headquerte®s of the Doon
valley was previously locateé at Nawada, but was later shifted
to Dehra. It was, therc¢fore, impossible for the royal fugitives
to teke shelter at either place. according to Miyan Prem Singh,
they finelly stayec at Nelagadhi (Nalapani), about six miles
e&st of Dehra. The fort of Nolupani wes situasted in the midst
of & cense forest. The roycl fugitives would be able to stay
there only with asdequate arrangements. It is possgible that they
Stayed thure conly for a few days. ' ;-

- The Kingdom cof Gerh hed been ravaged by famine, civil war,
énd ecarthquakes. fThe Court of Nepel considered this a favorable
oppartunity tc occupy thet Kingaom. Gorkhali troops reached
Srinagar obout three woeks after the earthquokes (Septemoor 8, 1803).
Nepal wanted tc conquer the entire mountain region up to keshmir.
alara Simhe Thepe had been cppointed =s the Gorkhali Commander
on the western front. He had uncer his command about 3,000
Tegulsr troups, and an equel numoer of irregular troops. Chautariys
Hastidal was appointed as his deputy, ané K2ji Renadhir Simhe
Basnyat as assistant.
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The Gorkhasli troops advenced towarc Srinagar from three
directions. The first unit advanced from the east, possibly
through the Chandpur route, and the second unit, which was led
by Shaktibir Thapa and Chendravir kunwar, through the Langurgarh
route., The third unit had proceeded to Johar to suppress Jaya
Narayan Joshi and his Garhwali troops, and had by that time occupied
the Himalayan territories of kumaun. It reached the valley of
the Pindar river through Daznpur and finally marched to Srinsagar.

When the Gorkhali trcops reached Srinagar, Pradyumna Shah
held consultations with his ministers and courtiers, Parakrama
Shah too came to his senses end jo.ned the king. His troops
lacked the courage to fece the Gorkhalis. Amara Simha Thapa
sent & letter from the Nepal (ourt to Pradyumna Shah, who then
*led &a~ross the Alaskaranda river along with Parsekrama Shah and
dolnad their .families in the Docn Valley.

The inhabitants of Chendpur, lohwa, and Salan were already
well-8cquainted with the crueity of the Gorkhalis. Stories of
their oppression were widesprecd. The Gorkhalis unleashed a
' reign of terror immedistely after they reached the capital.
Pecople in the northern areas flec to the forests along with their
cattle, while the people of Salan fled to the plains, Extensive
areas were rendered desclate, fcor noe one remained to cultivate
the land and protect the crops. '

The Gorkhalis, when they lezrnt that both Pradyumna Shah
and Parakrama Shah bad escaped,. procuably sent search parties toward
Rishikesh through Devaprayag, as well as to the Bhagirathi Valley
through Ranihat. The Gecrihall troops spread all over the Kingdom
in search of the fuglitives. The Gerhwali supporters of Pradyumna
Shah tried to check the Gorkhali advance at Badahat, but their
gfforts were of no avail before the well-trainea Gorkhali troops,. .
The Gorkhalis reached the Docn Valley in a few days, leaving =
trail of plunder. devestation, end rape behind them. Finding
himself unszfe at halsagaoarhi {h?l”pﬂni), Pradyumna Shah decided to
take refuge in the torritories of the East India Company. In
Aswin 1860 (Octeber 1803), the buThhuliS occupied the Doon Valley.
A few days before Amara Simha Thapa occupied Dehra, Colonel purn
of “the Bast Ind;a C-mpany's ferees had oecupied Scheranpur,

When thq Gorkhali troops reached Dehra, Pradyumna Shah left
for Saharangpur through khedi-Ghat (now Mohsn-Ghata), along with
his femily. One of his ancestors, lalit Shah, hzd given two
villages in the Doon Valley as jagir to the Reo of Khedi. The
Gorkhelis had occupied these villeges also, 80 the Rao naturally
felt sympathy for Pradyumna Shﬂh.

In those days, the foothills of the Siwalik range from the
Yamuna to the kali river were inhabited by twe Muslim fighting
communities known as Hecol and Mewati. They usea to offer their
mercenery services to any one who could afford them. Pradyumna Shah
began negotistions with the Hedi chizfs, but the Hedis stole
everything they could lay their hands on at the royal camp.

They even began to kidnap Grrhwali boys and girls, as well as
prostitutes, for sale in the plains. All this left Pradyumna
Sheh, Sudarshan Shah, and Prrakrame Shah helpless,
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Pradyumna Shar, cccuompanicd by his family thun took refuge
with his priest (penda), kruparama. Accorcing to Harikrishna
Ratudi, he had done so &t Jwalapur. HMiyan Prem Singh, on the other
hand, gives the name of thut place as kanekhel. The royal priests
of Tehri, who now reside at Herdwor, originally did so at Kanakhal.
It is possible that they latzr built & house at Jwalspur. In 1803,
Harawer was o small settlement. wven by 1808, it hed not developed
much. In faect, it was only about 1/ furlengs long along a 15 feet
wide street. After it was occupi:dé cy the Bast India Company,
“Henry Wellésley built thg bridge at a distance of about three
miles., He alsc built an inn for troders who visited Hardwsr during
festivals, as well as scme other buildings. However, sccurity
arrangements wure not made. A Gorkhali checlpost was located
nezr the ghet on the rozd from Heri-ki-pPairi., Pradyumna Shah,
therefoie, could not remain safe in Hardwar,

Jwalapur, which was alse known as Chogpur, #as & small
village inhabited by cettle-ferrmers. It was neither convenient
ner safe for the royszl fugitives to take refuge ¢t such & place,

In those days, kanckhal wes o prosperous town, with ghats made
nf slabs of stone. The' main road of the town was very beautiful
and proceeded paralilsel to the river from north to south. Affluent
sratmans and merchants h:d ouilt pzl~otial houses on both sides
of thnt re.d, as well 23 elscwhers in the town. The residents of
Kenakhal were regarded as important and influential. BHost of
the houses were made of brick and lime. Their front was decorated
with portraits of different people, including English men. Some
of those houses ere still in existence a2t Kanakhal. Between 1803
and 1808, Dilbeli Singh, a gercf of Wozibabad., Raja Hire Singh Gujar,
and meny Go8sajps built durable snc bzautiful housces at Kanskhal
with bricks &na stone slabs. In 1803, Hardwar, kenakhal, and
Jwalapur were all under the contral of the gast India Company.
kenekhal wis thus & very appropriate place of recfuge for the royal
fugitives., 8o miyan Prem Sing's version appears to be correct.

In subscquent ycars, Jwalapur too expanded, and some time
oefore 1815 Sudarshen Sheh began o live there. When he returned
from Delhi in 1815, his family wes living in Jwalapur, obut they
used to live at kanskhal until 1814. It was in thet year thet
Hearsey, William Freser, Burton, Ross, and Alexandar hod met him.,
Howeve:r, the author has not becn =ble to identify the buildings
thet the royal fugitives occupicd in Jwalapur and Kanakhal.

According to Miyan Prem Singh, the prisst (panda) with whom
Pradyumna Shah took refuge =t konekhal was called Kriparama. However,
inquiries at Kanakhal, Jwalspur, anc Hardwar revealed thet he was
actually called Sardar Moyaram, because he was the Chief (Zarder)
0f the local pandas. Avinash kumar, a descendant of Sardar Mayaram,
tnld the -author that when Sudershan Sheh received the state of
Tehri, he made a grant of 1500 bighas of land to Sardcr Mayoram
€t Khera and Praedipnagar, The khara lands heve been acquired
by the Forest Department, but the Pradipnager lands are still in
- the possession of Sardar May: ram's descendants, who are still
briests of the Tehri royal family. kriperam and Mayzram refer to
the seme person, or sre frther and son, or brothers.

(To be Continued)
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In adaitio:r, Bali Thapa was ccncurrently appointed as subedar
of the Neya Sri Warahadal Company, replacing Jcsya Khawas, and
granted Jagir lancs in Naulpur and elsewhere.

Regmi Research Collection, Vol. 25, p. 21.

On Poush Badi 13, 1842, the Jegir lands of the Naya-Sri
Verahaaal Comparny in Rejgadh, Jdhapa, in the kemala-Mechi region,
wvere placed uncer the jurisciction of Bali Thapa, replacing
Jasya Khawas. He was empoherec to appropriate revenue from all
axistinE Sources on those lancs.

Regmi Hesaarch Lollﬂction, Yol. 25, p. 21

The seme day, the Choudh. ris, kanugoyes, Mckaddams, arnd ryots
of the Bhotgaun area were informec of the replacement of Jasya
Khawas by Suuba Balil Thapa and orcered to prnvida him w1th
necessary easistance ana cooperation.

Regmi Research Collestion, Vol. 25, p. 21.
' COEEFARERRER

R By
Dr. Shi.a Prasad Dabaral "Charan",
(Continued)

Twelve years previously, whcn the Gorkhalis hed invaded
the eastern part of Garh and Langurgarh, no-Ggarhwali had been
willing to sice with them against his own king.. But now Garhwali
officials were convinced that the Gorhwal royal dynesty had come
to an end. They beli:ved that this was the result of the curses
of the queens of Salim Shah (Suleiman Shukoh) and Jaya Kirti
Shah, murder of the Brahman brothers Ramapati khandudi and
Dharanidhar khandudi, and oppression of the people, and that
the Gorkhalis were only an instrument, Garhwall officials
accoroingly Btar;ed-axtandigg cooperation to the Gerkhalis. All
leading officials had raced land grants from the state on a
tax-free basis. They obtained free labor and cash income from
these lands, so that they were sble to live in comfort. These
lands would have been teaken away from them had they not extended
cooperation to the Gerkhalis. oreover, they could ve charged
with treason for not extending such cooperation., Amara Simha
Thapa summoned all officials, Sayapnas, Kemins, and other respectable
people (n ala sh) and directed them to maintain law and
order in the Kingdom. He also reconfirmed their land grants.
This shrewd step on the part of Amara Simha Thapa made it
‘necessary for them to invite refugees back home and persuade
them to continue cultivating their lands.
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. Hardly had the Gorkbalis finalized neceesary administrative
arrangements in Srinagar than they received reports from the
military commander of Doon th:t Pradyumna Shah had reached there
with his troops. Pradyumna bhah hud left his family et kanakhal
and proceeded to Saharanpur. There he raised a sum of Rs. 150,
by mortgaging his throrne, and an additional Hs. 50,000 by mortgaging
the ornaments and other valuable objects of the temple of
Badrineth. With the help of the wujer, Sardar Ramcdayal Singh
of Landhaur, he assembled a force of sbout 12,000 men composed
of Ramghsads, Pundirs, Gujars, and Rajputs. A GQGorkhali force
led by Amara Simha Thapa, shaktibir Thapa, and Ragajit Kunwar _
meanwhile reached there from Srinagar. On Mag 22, 1860 (Januasry 1804
a fierce battle was fought in the plain of hhadbuda, about half -
a mile away from the palace of (Guru Rama Raye. Pradyumna Shah's
two brothers, namely, Parakrama Shah and Pritam Sheh, and his two
son8, namely, Sudarshan Shah auc Devi Simha, were present in
the battlefield. Pradyumna Sheh's Chief attendant (Chopdsr)
received three sword wouncs, and his head was practically cut
into two through another sword thrust from the left cheek to
the right ear. Pradyumna Shah stooa his ground bravely, with
EE&I&EEEEE and the Gitz in his arms. He was on horseback near.

8 c.mp talking to Miyan Dulal Singh of Prithvipur when he was
struck by a shot fired by Ranai't:kunwar. His troops then began
to run away from the battlefisld. The battle thus came to

an end.

It seems that Parakrama Shah, Pritam Shah, Sudarshan Shah,
arnd Davi Simha remained safe. Parakramse Shah then left immediately
for his father-in-law's place at Hinour (Nalagadh) without any
care for the funeral rites of Pradyumna shah, whereacs Sudarshan
Shah and Devi Singh escap:d to kanakhal along with some faithful

servants.,

~ Amara Simha Thapa showed aue respect for the body of Pradyumna
Shah. He covered it with a shawl. and sent 1t to Hardwar under
the escort of Surajan Singh Rawel of Dalanwsla anc other persons,
It ia possible that the escort included some Gorkhali soldiers
also. jecause Sudaershan Shah and Devi Simha could not be found,
the last fites were performed by Devi Simha. Pritam Shah was
grieving the loss of his brother and the disappesrance of his
nephew, but was captured by the Gorkhalis and sent to Nepal.

According to Heri krishna Ratuci, the Gorkhali Sardars
sent Pradyumna Shah's body with great honor to Sudarshan Sheh
in Hardwar, and the bocy was cremated with great pomp. Bhaktadurshap
following Ratudi, says that the cremation took place at Jwalapur
in Herdwar. bBdiyan Prem Sireh's version, however, is more crediblec.
It is possivle that the body of Pradyumna Shah was cremated by
Pritam Shah et Hardwar. After the cremation, Pritam Shah was
captured by the Gorkhalis. Sucershen Sheh and Devi Simha too
could have been captured h:¢d they bveen present there. Praayumna
Shah hed at lcast one queen and some slaves with him at kanakhal.
Had Pradyumna Shah's pody been sent to Sucarshan Shah, one or
two of them woulc certainly have pecome & Sati. But no evidence
is available to show that this happened.
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Panic spread in the Doon Valley as soon as the news was’
received that Pradyumna Shah hed been killed., People left their
villages énd fled to the mounteins. The (orkhalis tri:c¢ their
best to lure them or intimidat® them to go back to their wvillage
but no one did so. The Gorkhalis started looting the Doon Valley,
so that the entire region became desolote., For full one year,
no one returned to his home, snd no lend wes cultivatec. The
Gorkhalis, thinking thet Mchent Herasevak was a supporter of:
Pradyumna Shah, imposed restrictions on his muvem&nts and confiscateu
the lands of the Guru—ﬂarnar

Back in brlnagar. the Gorkhalis tried to enlist the cooperztion
of prominent people &nd top-ranking officials. Maularem vwas a
reputed poet, philisopher , painter and igeologue-of Srinagar.
His feme had spread even to kantipur, the capital of Nepal.
Chautariye Hestiaal Shah' anc other Gorkhali commepders trisd to
win him over to the Gorkhali sice. They askcd him to describe
the origin of the royczl dyn:sty of Gerh and the ovents that took
place during the reign of the important kings. Chautariya
Hestidal Shah, Amcra Simha Thepe, ond other Gorkhali bhardars were
very pleased to heer his accounts. .They reconfirmed Maularam's
Jagir village ., &s well as the 2llowsnces he used to get from
the Kingdom of Garh., They assured him th=t he would be able to
¥ foreibly taken eway Mauleram's concybine, Lexmi. Amere Simhe
Thapa promised to find her out and restore her to Maulrram.
However, the poct refused to eccept her back. Amare Simha Thapa,
pleasgd et this, presented him & horsc -nd alsg honored him
with robes, woapons, tnd a gold head dre9p/with his own: hends,
The Gorkhalis won over Maularsm in this mamner end, cunsultad him
4in important matters. .
/*1ive happily in the Gorkhali Kingdom. Parakrams Shah had
After the essessinetion of Remapati Khancuui amd ‘Dharanidher
khendudi, the influcnce .of the Saklani brothers, Shishram and
Shivaram, started growing. They received the villages ofSalenani,
Deuri, Athoor, kotpudyar snd Sonargaon es Jagir. The Saknani,
colleborated with the Gerkhhelis in the Yeginning. According to
Miyan Prem S h, Jwaleram peklani turned traiter efter the
_battle of Khudbuda and became a collaboratoriof the Gorkhalis,
However, during the Nepal-Best Indiz Compeany war, Shivaram went
over to the East India.Company's side.

The sons of Ramapetl khancudi a&nd Dharanidhar kKhendudi,
nemely, Gajandhur Khandudi eno krishncdatta khandudi, and their
brothers, namely, krishnananda snd Harshapeti, collaborated with -
the Gorkhalis like the oaklanis., All thesSe. four, pe rsons were
appointad cs dari in 1861 Vikrens (A.D._18045 Amars: 8ingh Thapa
- wrote to the court of Nepal that these Khandudis had been given
the task of pscifying the pecsentry, collecting the revenue,
oringing back the peasants who had fled to the plains, restoring
lands to cultivetion, resettling depopuleted villages, and
maintoining lend revenuc records, and that they were ‘performing
their dutics faishfully. = However, on thd eve of the Nepal-Bast
India Company war,.tho khandudia hed developed contacts with
Rutharfond. ' < _ ;
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All officials of the kingdem of G. rh, high or low, Scyanas
and Kamins, influcntial people, &nd sycophants thus offercd
active cooperation to the Gorkhalis end succeeded in retaining
their Jagirs end other privileges. Some of the Garhwali troops
joined the Gorthali army. Garhwoli officials started running
the :dministretion accoraing to thc orcers of the Gorkhalis,
The indepcndence of the Llngdom ef Garh end the Garhwali people
thus came to an end. ,

tE L X E 3
d Grants Durin hadur Shah's Regenc

: . In June 1785,Bahadur Shah assumed power in Kathmandu in the
capacity of Regent. The following bandhas lands were maue a few
months thereafter:- '

(1) On Aswin Badi 10, 1842 (September 1785), 14 khets (1,400 muris)
of rice fields at Ikhadol and elsewhere, along with homesteszas.
were confirmed as banggg in favor of Shaktiballabh Bhattacharysa
-an payment of Rs., 1,421. "The murt.ge.ga shall be redaamad
when the mney is paid back." -

n&Lm1 RESEﬂrﬂh tollection, Vel. 25, pp. 1-=2

(2) oOn kertik Badi 7, 1842 ((ctooer 1785), one dihi (homestead)
in markhu - vailey, previously held by Chhatra Simha Pradhan,
was granted s bandha to Shiva Narayan Khatri on payment of
Rs. 201. "The mortgage shall Le redeemed when the mdney is
paid bank " .

Ragmi Rasearch Gnlle;tion. Vol. 25. p. 4.,

(3) On Kartik ‘Badi T, 1842 (October 1785), 96 ropanies of land
: and ‘the attached homesteads at Paknajol and Thabahil in
Kathmandu were granted &s bandha to Ranabhanjan Pande on
payment of Rs. 1501, "The mortgage shall be redeem>d when the
money is péid back." The lancs were previsouly held by
Balekrishna Jaisi and Harilal Pandit.

Regmi Haaearch UDllECtiDL, Vol. 25, p. 4.

(4) Poush Sudi 13, 1842 (December 1785): 200 muris of rice-fields
held by Kuber Padhya ana Srikrishna Padhya, along with the .
attached homesteads, were confirmed in their possession under

ha ténure on paymant of Hs. 878, "The lands shall be
raturned when the money is paid back." '

Hegmi Rasearch Lollection, Vol. 25, p. 22.
T
(5) _F&¢gun Sudi 2, 1842: 240 muris of rice-fiel¢s and attached
homesteads, pre<viously hela by Tikaram Padhya, Jivu Jaisi, -
and Dasharatn Tiwari, to Tikrame Pantha for Rs. 3,513. (RRC,
Vol. 25, p. 33).
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Gorkhali Rule in Garhwal

By

Dr. Shiva Prasad Dabaral "Chsran".

From A.D. 1803 to 1815 (1860 to 1872 Vikrama), Amar Simha
Thapa kept himself preoccupied with plans to expand the Gorkhali
empire to kangra, Jammu, ana K&shmir after overrunning several
principalities in Himachal Pradesh. His mercenary trocops from
Doti, Kumeun, and Garhwal, who numbered twice the Gorkha troops,
kept shedding their blood for the sake of msking the people of
Himachal Pradesh slaves of the Gorkhalis on the orders of the
Gorkhali commanders.

No detailed study has been made sSc far regarding the way
Doti, Kumaun and Garhwal were administered at that time. Doti
is now a part of Nepal. Gorkhali rule over kumaun was generally
described as "Gorkhyol", which we will descripbe in the history
of Kumaun. In this chapter, we will describe the main fﬂatures
of Gorkhall rule over Garh, known as “Garxhyarl" ”

The King of Nepal directly ruled over Kumawn for nearly

25 years, and over Gerh for 12 years. The Gorkhali sauthorities
were required to remain in constant touch with the Palace in
Nepal. They regularly received orders bearing the royal seal
from the Palace. It was necessary for thasm to receive prior
permission from the Pzlace for executing arny important plan.
Occesionally, they were transferred after o short period on

the orders of the Palace. However, no contemporary register,
document, diary, or record providing coherent .and detailed
information about the authorities who ruled the regions to the
west of the kali river, and about their work isaveilsblein Kumaun,
Garh, Himachal Przdesh, or Nepal. :

Materials shedding lizht on this subject mey be available
in the private libraries of reputed families in Nepal. However,
efforts of -cholars of Wepal, I.dia and foreign countries to
acquire them have not yet been successful. The rule of the Rana
family, who must have possessed such materials, came to an end
in 1951. No effort has been made 8ince then to search, compile,
preserve, edit, ard publish those materials. :

So far the following materials on Gorkhali rule in Garh
written in the Gorkhali language have been found.

(1) ILetters written by the Gorkhali authorities to the
Kamins of Gujadu and Dhangu, including the orders of Hastidal
Chauteriys, Kaji Randhir Simha Basnyat, Shektibir Thapa, Tularam
Adhikari, and others. These documents are in the possession of
the descendants of kamins Vishnu Simhs,Gorls Rawat,and Autar
Simha Rawat,
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(2) Copper-plstes deting back to the reign of Ran Bzhadur
Shah and Girban Yuddha bikram Shah, which are preserved at the
roeweleshwar Temple of Srinagar, the Kedarnzth Temple, the
Jkhirmath end other templecs. GSome other copper-plastes referred
to oy Treill, which, according to Atkinson, were in the possessior.
of the District 0ifice at PFsuri, but are said to have disappeared.

(3) Sanads issued by Gorkhali officials to individuals and
temples, which are mentioned by Traill.

(4) Documents on lanc tenure arrang:ments, issued by Gorkhali
officials particularly, Eaji sahadur Shah shandari and Bakshi
Dasharath Khatri, in favor of several kamins. On the besis of
those documents, Treill h=a madu a prelimincry lend settloment
in Garhwal.

Maularam's Works

The works of Maularzsm, a contemporary writer, particularly
Rajevanshakavya, Hansbaghodur Chandrika and ShumShere Jung-
Chandrika, and his miscellaneous poetry selections, provide
much important and interesting information about the Gorkhali
conquesSts and administration of the western hill region. 1In
1867 Vikrama (A.D. 1810), Kaji Bakhtewar Simha Basnyat, who
had been sent by the hepal Palace to the western front, reached
Srinagar. At his request, Maularam describved to him ir detail
the Gorkhali administration since 1861 Vikrame (A.D. 1804). Pleased
vith him,Bakhtawar Simhe Basnyat gave him 61 gold Sovereigns,

& horse, a robe, and weapons as a reward. He also restored
to Maularam his jagir villages, and the daily allowances which
hzd been suspended by his predecessors.

Maularam composed the Bakhtgwar Yasha-Chandriks, and dedicated
it to Bakhtawar Simha Besnyat. The work dealt with the past,
present, and future of Gorkhali rule over Garh. Maularam
probably revised this work after the end of the Gorkhali rule.

Like the Garhraja-Vamshakevya, this work predicted that Gorkhali
rule in the region west of tne :uli’ river would aventually
collapse. 1 have tried hard to find this work, but so far I

have not been able to do so. Manmathasagara and one other book
written by Maularam, are also saia to shed som¢ light on
contemporary politics. Howaver, not only ManmathasageXa but also
six other works of Maularam have mysteriously disappeared. In
the form of answer® to questions by Maniram Bairagi, Maularam

has also described in aseparate poem the political changes which
hed resulted in the destruction,in 1875 Vikrama (A.D. 1818)

of Srinagar, which had been a tEriVing city in 1812 Vikrama (A.D. 1755 )«
Only one page of this work has been discover:d so far.

During Gorkhali rule, Captain Raper, Lt. Webb, Captain
Hearsey, Colebrooke, arnd Moorecroft had tourcd Kumaun and Garh
anag collected vital information. Rutherford and Hodgson also
had tried to gather information from different sources. Shortly
after the Gorkhali rule, Fraser had toured Tehri and Garhwal
and recorded much interesting informetion.
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Qther Sources

Information maae aveilcble by Harshzdeva Joshi regarding
Gorkhali rule to Cherry, Graham, Fraser and Hearsey, materials
compiled by Traill on the basis of documents concerning the
Gorkhali administration, accounts of Garhwal and Kumaun, written
by Moorecroft and othersin the eerly days of sritish rule, reports
of Beckett, Batton, Poe and others, documents preserved in the
archives of Tehri stete, ana the pre-mutiny sritish records .
preserved 'n rauri, pehraacun a. i Almora, proviue importaent
information about Gorkhali rule in Garhwal. During the Gorkha
war, letters written by some Gorkhali commanders, as well as
by several Garhwalis passed into the hands of employees of
the East India Company. Th.se letters contein interesting
information about the contemporary situation. Several contemporery
documents &re preserved, elbeit in scattered form, in the Uttar
Pradesh State Archives 'in Allahabad and the National Archives
in Delhi. ,

Military Rule

Asin kKumeun, the Gorkhali rule in Garh state was eSsentially
military in character. In this state, the Gorkhalis had three
battalions of troops cach comprising five companies. These
troops were paid emoluments from the local revernues, The number
cf troops stationed in each g8rkha depended on the emount of -
revemes collected there. Thus, according to a letter written
by Sarder Bhakti Bir Thapa in March 1807 (Chaitra 14, 1864),
revenues in Dhangu Garkhs were used to pay emoluments to 25
soldiers. The responsibility of collecting revenuc and handing
over the same to the Sarder was entrusted to kamins. Any delay
in this regard was not tolereted by the troops. Kamins were
entrusted with the responsibility of handing over a sum _
specified in a written orcer issu-d by the Sardar immediately
~after receiving it. The presence of Gorkhali troops in every

arkha turned the Gorkhsli rule into e most cruel one and reduced
the subjects of Gerhwal to the status of slaves forced to supply
provisions to the army. They could be Sold as slaves in case
they failed to pay their tuxcs.

Although Kumeun and Garh were¢ both under Gorkhali military
rule, there was a notable difference between their administrative
systems. During their 14-year rule from A.D. 1790 to 1804
(1847 to 1861 Vikrams) the Gerkhali governors of Kumaun initially
treated the subjects brutally, but later started improving relations
with them. Duec to the absence of any new campaign of mil?tary
conquests during that period, they had, thanks to the active
cooperation of opportunists like Joshi, gradually shaped the
administration of kumcun in a way which helped to bring the rulers
and the ruled closer to eachother. On the other hand, the Gorkkali
commanders in Garh had had to e¢ngage 1n a continuous campaign
of conquests in the western region immediately after their occupatioun
of Garh. They were competing with each other for getting as much
credit as possible in that campaign. They were no less attracted
by the wealth accumulated by the unorganized principalitiecs of
Himaohal through generstions, as well as by the prospect of
satisfying their sensual and other desires.
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The governors assigned to Gerh usually stoyed away from
that stcte in order to be able to continue their campaign of
conquest in the Himachal region, or to meintain their siegs
of Kangra fort. They delegeted their functions in Garh to their
assistants or reprcscntetives, who were called gichari ( judge)
or Achari (deputy rdministrator). These Bicheris end jcheris
ecnsidered themselves representatives of the governor and exerciscd
all his powers at their own descretion.

Thesc days, high-ranking authorities are subjected to criticisc
if they appoint their relatives in important posts. But during
the Gerkheli rule, the authorities hed full fresdom to do so.
Indeed, the stete itself accepted such a practice as justified.
Many of the officirls stationed in the conquered territories to
the west of the koli river belonged to the Thopa family. The :
top authoritics appointec Bicharis and jchoris as their rﬁpresentﬁtiﬂ
usually from among their rclatives, sSince they were regarded as
more trustworthy. It was believed that such representstives
would never do anything that might harm the interests and prestige
of the top authorities who were their own relatives.

In Garh, as in Kumaun, administrotors with the ranks of
Subba, Naib Subba and commander (Sgnapati) were appointed. The
Subba was the Chief Officer of the province or state. There were
one or more Nhaib Subbas under him who managed the affairs of
different administrative units. The commender (Senapati) was
the chief military officer of the army deployed in the state.
According to his orders, companies of Gorkhali troops assisted
in maintaining order and sccurity as well 28 in the collection
of Pevenue. It is difficult to say anything about the exaet
nature of the relationship among Jubba, Naib Subbas and eommanders
(S8enapatis). Traill, who took over the administration of Kumsun
and Garhwal shortly after the end of the Gorkhali rule, did not
find any definite clue in this regard.

In modern times, the authorities of the state are divided
into two main categories: civil and military. Authorities
belonging to the twc categories have separate jurisdictions,
powers, ard duties. But no such arrangement cxisted during
Gorkhali rule. No restrictions were imposed on the conduct of
these state functionaries, who were directly appointed by the
Nepal Pslace. It was not necessary for these functionaries to
be educated and civilized. Nor did any age 1limit apply to them.
They were usually transferred according to the orders of the Nepal
Palace, and were all responsible to it.

Relations among some of the authorities of the state were
not good. They sent reports about each other's faults to their
superiors as well as to the Nepal Palace. They did not have a
clear—cut policy regarding the way they should deal with the
subjects. For instance, a criminal punished or imprisoned by
one officer could be freed by another if the latter so desired.
They also followed contradictory policies in dealing with
foreigners. .
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puring British rule, Garhwel was made just a pargunna or
Tehesil of Kumaun. Even after Gerhwal was up=-graded to a
district in 1839, Kumsun remained the headquarters of all
‘government departments steotioned there, and remainsS So. Garhwel *’
was subsequently upgraded to the status of & division with =
Commissioner, but the headquarters of government departments
have been retained in Kumsun. During Gorkhali rule, Kumaun
and Garhwal were administered as separate and independent units.
Accordirely, Subbas, Npib-Subbas gnd ecmmanders (8gnapatis),
~ were separately appointed for the two units. The whole of Garh
‘state (including Tzhri and Doon) was considered part of Garhwal.
The stete was diviced into thre¢ Tahas'ls, namely, Srinager,
Langur (or Dhangu), and kainyour (cr Chandpur). Srinagsr was
the hesdquarters of the state.

Militery Leedorship of gmer Simha Thepa (1804-1

. ... On his return from kashi, Ran Bahsdur Shah appointed imar
Simha Thapa as militery commancer in the reglon west of the

.~ Kali river. Jmar. Simha Thapa was a brave, couragecous and dedicated
plenner =nd successful commander. The troops hed boundless

faith in .him. They were ready to perticipate in any battle

.under his eoumand. Both soldiers and civilians believed thot
victory elways smiled on him. He had,a mcustache, kept his boerd
and hair long. He used to wear an iron heimet and an iron sShie.id.
Amer Simha Thapa wes fair in complexion. He was handscme and
strong. His eyes were deep and impressive. Certainly he was

the greatest military commander of Nepal, for he had sent the

flag of Nepal flying s far as the fort of kangra across the

Sutlej river. Frocm 4.D. 1804 to 1815 he remainzd the suprenec
miiitary governor of the conquered territories, streching frou

the Kali river to the region beycnd the Sutlej. The gubbas,
Naib-Subbas and conmanders appointed by the Nepal Palsace were
required to act as ordered by Amar Simha Thapa. The Nepal Palace
acted according to his advice in matters concerning the administrati.
of the conquered territories to the west of the Kall river. Only
those persons in these areas whosSe loyaelty was confirmed and commeics:
by imar Simha Thepa werc granted Jagirs by the Nepal Palace.

During 1860-61 Vikrsma (4.D. 1804) when the Gorkhali army
was enga@d in a campaign to conquer the valleys of the Alakarancs
ard Bhagirethi rivers, and the Doon region, after defeating
Pradyumna Shah, Amar Simha Thapa was the supreme military commanrc:™
in both Kumaun and Gerhwel. Hastidal Cheutariya was eppointed
Naib Subba, and kaji Renadhir Simha Basnyat as commander for
~ Gerh under him. So far, I have not found the original texts of
orders issued by Amar Simha Thapa with regard to the administrating
of Garh. But a document issued by Hastidszl Chauteriya and Kaji
Ranadhir Simha is availeble. It contzains the seal of Hasticdal.
The two men jointly issued it to the landowners of Sanglakoti.

There was one special reason for despetching Hastidal
Chautariya send his brothers to the western front. At that time,
an intense power struggle was taking place between the Thapa
and Chautariya factions. Aifter the assassiration cf Ran Bahadur
Shah by Sher Bahadur Chsutariya, Bhimsen Thaps, Prime Minister,
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obtained a good pretext for eliwinating the Chautariya sardars,

who were powerful foes cf the Thapa faction. He immediately

had Sher Bahadur, Nasrasimha Kaji, Tribbhuwar kaji and sidur Shahi
whe were prominent Chautariyas, exccuted. Eut it was not possible
to wipe out all powerful Chsutariya sardars. Bhimsen Thapa rem-ovi.
many of themn from their posts, and confiscated their Jagirs.
fintieipating strong oppesition to any attempt to execute Brahma
Shahi (Bam Shah), an uncle »f the King, and his two brothers,
Hastiaal Shehi and Rucravir Shahi, Bhimsen Thapa deputed them +¢
the weste:n front. Tnere was little possibility of these Chautariysz
Sardars reising the benner 4f revolt once they were posted in
distant Kumsun and Garhwal, where gmar S3ianha Thapa, a cloSe
confidant of Bhimsern Thapa, was chief military Commander.

At the time of the Gorkhalil attack on Garh state a majority
cf the rursal people of Salana, who were familiar with the atrocitics
of the Gorkhalis, had fled to the plains in panic. The inhabitants
of the central part of this area had shifted to pssture areas
along with their livestock. BSeveral villages, where none
-Stayed to look after crops cr cultivate farms, became depopulated

It was in this manner that villeges in Dcon valley became
depopulated. Anarchy prevailed in the Tarai arcas in the South
of kumaun and Garhwal.Oppressed by their administrators, the locsal
people fled to the hills or to the plains, but nowhere did they
find security. Archibald Seton, British Commissioner of
Kashipur, has given a description of the stete of anarchy that
prevailed in Kumszun under the administration of Rudraevir Shabi.
His description applies to Garh s well. 4 terrible famine
raveged Rohilkhand, Morudabad and the southern regions of Kumaun
and Garhwal in 1860 Vikramaz (a.D. 1803). Publio-tife became
inseeure in those regions because of the depredations of Hedi,
Mewali, and other lawless elements. It was in this situation
that Amcr Simha Thapa made an attempt to restore order and tranquill? t
ir Garh with the help of the former officials.

Amar Simha Thepa made preliminery administrative arrangements
in Srinagar with the ccoperation of former Defdaris, Kamins, and
cther funciionarics wnd reSpectable people. ha tried to enlist
the cooperation of Mauleram and other prominent and influential
perscns. He left the treditional land syctem of the state unchanged:
45 before, Kamins remained rcsponsible for the collection of
revenue in the village. Nor was any change made in the practice
0f collecting duties at ferry-points. ILand endorsments made by
the Kings of Garh to temples were reconfirmed. Amar Simha Thapa
did not interfere with the Jagirs and allowances of those officials
who cooperated with the new rulers. Accordingly, they pledged
their cocporations Amer Simha Thapz appointed Ranjit Kunwar,
ingad Sardar, and Sardar Perashuram Thaps, his deputies, as
chief of the three revenue divisions of Garh, namely, Srinsgar,
Langur, and Kainyour (Chendpur).

(To be Continued)

E R St & 8 n 2t 8 oL
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y By
Dr. Shiva Prusnd Dabaral "Charan"
(Contimed)

Amer Simha Thapa hed arrested Eunwar Pritam Shah and sont
him to Nepal, while ¥erekrama Shah fled to Hindur (Nalsgarh).
Sudarshan Sheh fled from hhudoudae snd took Bhelter with the priest
kriparam at hanckhal. FPradyunria Shah® chief ohamberlain, kishen
Singh, assumed charge of his proteetion. He had been with

Pracyumne Shah in the bettle of Khudbuwa. - 4 Gorkhali soldier

hed caused him a deep wound from the left err to the right through

- his pose. He hed somghow menaged to bandage the wound and
accompanied the roysl family to Kanekhel. fdmar Simha Thapa dic

nothing for the maintenance of the royal family. Even thnsg

Garhweld officimle znd others who extended their support to the

Gorkhalis did not like this policy of amer Simhe Thapa.

Meanwhile, the displeced ruler of Simmur, Karmaprakesh,
requested Ranjor Theps, an 1 Simhe Thapa's son, for assistance

in regaining his kingdom. Anr Simhe Thapa took immediate auVento o

of this situation to make a Success of the Gorkheli campaign nf
territorial expension in the rogion west of the Jamuna river.

He placed Ranjor Thepe in the militery commend of kumeun anc
Garhwal and march:d towarc Sirmur accompanied by Bhaktibir Th-p.
Hastadal Chsuteriye, Renchir Simha Besnyat, anc other military

officers.

Amcr Simhe Thape remainec ongaged in the military cawpaign
on the western front from trat time till 1868 Vikrema (A.D. 1811,
He hed, consequently, no timw tc ettend to the administration
of Gerhwal. However, from 1869 to 1872 Vikrama (4.D. 1812-15),
we finc both imar Sinhs Thepa enc his son, Ramjor Simha Thepe.
taeking special intorcest in the administration of Gurhwal. Botth
the father and the Son issusc orders making mamerous jogir

essignments during this period.

The Gorkhalis had arrcsted Jayanarayan, Harshedeva Joshi's
son, in Johar, and senrt him to Nepal. Jifter the death of
Pradyumna Shah, Harshedeva Joshi had loft for Kenskhal out of
frustration. It now bucame difficult for him to take an sctiv.
pert in politics. Direct opposition to the Gorkhalis would h-v:
been dangerous for his son, who wes being kept as a captive
in Nepal. Hershesdeva Joshi wcs sceing the hardships of the 5 .,
80l¢ a8 slaves by the Gorkhalis at Hardwer necar Kenekhal. He
had himself invited the Gorkhalis to invace kumesun, his mother;
end rencered them all possiblc help in subjugating Kumaun and
Garhwal. He now repentod his misc:eds. He sent sevirel lotter.
to the Bast India Compeny's representative in Delhi, Frazer,
describing the atrocitics perputreted by the Gorkhalis on the
people of the hills. On the other hend, ho very much desircc
that the situation in Nepsal shoulé be favorable to Ran Bahadur
Shah, with whom he h.¢ regular corrcspondence. His hopes coli |

when Ren Bahccdur Sheh wes assnssinoted in Belsakh 1863 (April 1nﬁ§_§

Hershadeva Joshi then maintein . d eontacts with Sucarshan Shah.
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Ranjor Simhe hss becen described as = man of excellent choract.r.
He wes not as scvers anc cruel as other Gorkheli administrators,
He wanted the subjects to be treatcd with justice. The Ggrh-

vam avya does not desceribe Hanjor Simha's administreti o
in 5r1nagar. It is possible that such a description wes contel.
¢rika. Trbe garh-Raj vamsha-kovys highly
praiscs Han 'S administration in Sirmur. jccording to
Maularam, towns and villages which hnd become depopulated reviv..
uncer his administration. 71he Bicharis anc jgcharis appointec by
Renjor Simha were poulite zond just. He hac éfsn Sat up an acvisory
cocuncil consisting of top-ranking cfficicls.  Ranjor Simha wes
a patron of men of arts ard letters, such a8 peularam, who hes
described him a8 a very generous person. reople used to say
that the son (Ranjor Simna) cxcelled the father (imer Simha).
Meularam's account mey be cxa.gerated, but Fraser's account sr._us
_ that Renjor Simhe was a benevolent administrator who wantcé to

maintain order and tranquillity.

However, Ranjor Simha's subordinate officials were very
harsh an¢ cruel. 4is counquercrs, they looked upon the sub jeects
with contempt. They freely pluncerec villages situatcd near
the cepitel, irsultud respcecteble pecple, and reped women. The
Gorkhalli civil and =ilitary officisls abdw ted the wives end
deughters of the people or peic a2 few rupecs for them, and kept
them as concubinces for es long :3 they likecd. Instead of winnin
over the hcerts of the Ssubjects, thoese officials believed that
severity and cruelty were the only meens to subdue them. The
tradition of oppression and plunder that began in Garhwal curin.
the time of Ranjor Simhe continuec till the end of Gorkhali rulc.

Changes were introcuced in Garhwal's traditional syatems

of taxation and the administration of justice. New taxes werc
imposed in addition tu the land tex, such as taxes on ghee, lcons,
%g&ﬁgl._and ©fagu, for the sake of revenue, -New mcthocs of

1 by ordeal were introduced. Fings and penalties begen tc Le
collected acecording to the financi&l capacity of the guilty
person. Roverue from taxation was ceposited at the state treassur:
while fines and penaltics were appropriated by the officiels.
Those who vere unebls to pay their taxces in time were aucticnec
as sloves aloné with their families.

Panlc spread in the Doon Valley as socon as the naws., spresu
thet Pradyumne Shah hac¢ been killed. The Gorkhalis plundered
the villages and town thworouyghly. The Gorkhali authorities cepriv.
Mehant Harasovakarama of the Guru-Mmandir of his positions becauso
they believed that he was a supvorter of pPradyumna sShah. He
was also accused of murcer. Since the Mahant refusec to confess,
and 8ince no witness eould be found, the imil of.the Doon Fallhy,
Sisaram Sakanyani, tock reso:t to trial by the orceal of boiling
0il -mecorcing to Gorkhali custrm. The Mahant's hanc wes put in
a caulcron of bolling oilland was badly burnt. This was takcn
to mean that Mahant Harasevakarem wes guilty, so he was punishcd
with a heavy fing. The Mehant's jagir villages in the Doon ?a]_py
werc ruined. Other villeges too remained uninhebited.
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It was kKaji Amrit who, for the first time, took steps
to check the plunder and prevent the Doon Valley from Leing
completely ruined. Eastidal, Ranjor's successor, also did
praisewar thy work in this regard. '

After their conuest of sumaun, the GorKhalis had constricr:-
a track from Kathmandu to Almeora. After the conouest of Srina i .
it was considered necessary to extend that track to Srinagar,
and then to Dehradoon. Accordirng to Traill ("Sketch of kumsun',
Asiatic Resesrches, Vol. 16, p. 142) kos-stones had alsSo beer
installed on that track. 1t is not known when onstruction o*
the track started and when it was completed. It is possife
that the project was begun during the time of Ranjor Simha.
Gorkhali officisals and trcops travelled to hangra through Almo:-
and Srinagar along this track.

Like the inhabitants of Juhar in the Himalayan region o*
Kumaun, the inhabitants of Niti in the Himal ayan region of Gerrw: ]
did not voluntarily accept Gorkha's sovereignty. The ruj-
of Gerh had offered the village of Managram to the temple of
Badrinath. It was therefore contrary to the policy of the
Gorkhalis ®0 collect reverue from that village. There were marny
exaggerated stories about the wealth of the inhabitants of Niti
valley, and the Gorkhalis were eager to make large revenus collect- o
there. A Gorkhali force proceeded to Niti valley, but the loc:

" inhabitants checked their advarce by destroying the suspensior
bridge on the Rini (Rishiganga) river. But the winter trade
between Niti valiley and the lower velley, was salso dislocated
aS a result. The inhabitants of Niti valley h=zd, therefore, no
alternative but to accept Gorkhali rule. A Gorkhali force was
stationed in the valley, and the cost of its maintenance was
raised from the local inhzbitants. (%raill: "Report on the

- Bhotiys Mashals of Kumaun, " ASjgtic Researches, Vol. 16, p. 30).
Gorkhali military personnsl collected the reveme themselves,
and thelr treatment of the local inhabitants was oppressive.
The Gorkhalis soon raised tle amount of the revemue to sich =
figure that many people were forced to leave their villages,

Ranjor Thapa h-d to leave for the western front after about
one year. Even when he was in Srinager, he hadto pay special
attention to the supply of men and materials for the western
front. The date when Ranjor Thapa left Srimgar is not known.

His name is not found in the list of Gorkhali officials in Srinsgar
in the Vikrama year 1862. The list mentions the names of Chararst
kunwar, 'Vijayenanda Padhya, and Gaja Simha only. They were
probably responsible for revenue collection in differemt divisior:
It was during those days that Meaularam compoSed Rana Bahadur
Chandrika. Rana bahadur had not y«t been esgassinated, S0 he -
received & recward from the roysl court of Nepal . .

tidal Chautariva's nistrsa n 1805-

The Thapa fection, which controlled tho goverpment of Nepal
as well as the army on the western front, regardecd the Chautariya
Sardars with suspicion. ¥hen ruthless officials Segverely oppressed
the people of Garhwal, and compelled them to leave their villages,
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it was felt necessary to sppoint an administrator of moderate
temperament such as Hastidal Chsutariya. Meanwhile, Ritudhwaj
Thapa, Vijeys Simhe Shahi, and Herdatta Simha Ojha hed been sernt
to kumaun to revise the reverue settlement and redress the
hardships of the people. In the Vikrame ycar 1862 (A.D. 180%),
the royal court of Nepal sent Hostidal's wrother, Rudravir Shah,
to relive him in the siege of kengra fort. Hastidal was then

. appointed administrator of Garh.

Hestidal Chsutariya wes 43 or 44 years of age at that time .
of medium height and stout build. He was of polite temperament
and his appearance wss impo3ing. He gave much importance to
agriculture and tried to improve the condition of the pessantry
He was a generous men who usually forgave minor mistakes. He

tried to keep the people satisfied.

. Immediately after assuming charge of the administration
of Gerh, Hastidal Chautariye toock up the problems of the Doon
valley, which had been ruined 28 a result of oppression by the
army and revenue collectors. (williams, Memoirs of Dahradun,
pp. 118-20). Most of the people of the valley had gone to other
arcas, and the cultiveted ares was diminishing rapidly. Hasticd:..
Chautariya reinstated Mahant Herasevakaram in his post and also
restored his privileges and perquisites. The Mahant was the only
Jegirder in the Doon Valley who had some influemce among the
people.. He wsed his influence to bring back people to their
villages end mads every possible effort to develop agriculthure.
Thanks to these e¢fforts, the condition of the Doon Valley began
to improve. Its revemue haé declincgfrom Rs 100,000 a year
durdng the rule of the kings of Garh to only*R8 9,000, but incrcescr
to Rs 16,000, and then to ks 18,000, within two or three years,
(State Papers, Judicial Series, p. 52; English Pre—}iutiny Recoras,
Saharanpur, Vox. 23, pp. 11’?—‘126)

. I}uring the rule of the kings of Garh, the Doon Valley wa
fraquently plundered by the Ranghads, Jats, Gujers and thille 3
of Saharappur, and the Sikhs -of Punjab. Their depmdatiun _
continuedduring the Gorkhaoli rule. It was at this time thet
the Bast India. Company statiored a native eavalry regiment &nd
an infantry battalion to protect Ssharanpur from the W-rauding
Sikhs.This step checked the Sikhs in the region west of Saharany.:
district, but had no effect on the Doon Valley. The Gorkhali
administrator - of the Doon Velley, therefore, announced that as
many villages of the marsuders would be set on fire as the numbcr
of their bands raiding the Doon Valley. In cefiance of this
anpouncement , .a band of Sikhs raided the Doon Valley and carried
away & large number of women end cattle. The Gorkhali administrat-.
sent 200 troops in pursuit. These troops recached the villages
of the bandidts end set them on fire. Anyone who tried to escapec
wad killed. Only a fow women were able to savg their lives
because of their beauty. This method of checking the banditry,
altough . barbarous, wes t.ffectiva,and tha mmbar of raids crn :

the qun Yallazf ﬂeclined.

i
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Amrit kaji and Horasevakaram did commendable work in
resettling villages end promoting agriculture in tke Doon Valley.
Hastidal Chauteriys tock severnl steps with these objectives.
He geve liberal taccavi loens to pe=sants in the newly-Settled
villages and fixed the land tax on entire villages at & figure
which was as low as five rupees a ycar in the name of Sayar=s.
He made land ellotments subject to the payment of one-twelvth
or even one-sixteenth of the produce as tax. ThesSe meesures
mede 1t possibls for the parsgennca of kalyanpur, in particul:r,
to attain a level of prosperity which remalmed unmatched sven
during the period of British rule.

Bem Shah in  Kumeun

: In the Vikrame year 18262 (A.D. 1805), Ritudhwa] Thap=a,
Vijaye Simbha Shahi, and Heradatta Simha Ojha were revising the
land settlement in kumaun. Ritudhwaj] Thapa was recalled from
kumaun the following year and sentenced to death for some crime
in Doti. He was replaced by Bam Shah, Hszstidal Shah's brother,
as Suopha of Kumaun. Bam Shah remsined in that post until 1815.
.ike Hestidal Shih, Bam Shah wes a iiberal ruler. He initiated
administrative reforms in humcun end succeeded in enlisting
the cooperation of several Erahmens and other influential peoplc.
AS a result, he wos ablc to thwart the feeble attempts of Lal
Simha and his associates to Spread intrearquillity in kumeun.

SJam Shah also took steps to protect the property of the people.
Jagir grants meds by foramer rulers were mestored. ifforts werc
also made to roform the Jjudicial system. The mractice of sellius
the families of people who were uncble tc pey their taxes as
Slaves was stopped. ' RS

As before, Gerh remained: divided into three tohasils =ind
84 pattis for purposes of revenue sdminis tration ns before
during the time of Hastidal Chautariya. His chief #ssistants
were Ashtadael Theps, heji Ram pehadur, and Psrashuram Thepa.
Hastidal's brether, Rudravir Shah, was in command of ths siege
of kangra on his behalf. According to o document dated Choitrs
14, 1804 (Merch 1808) of the time of Hestidal Chautariya, revenu:
from Dengu was appropriatea for the emoluments of 25 Gerkhali
troops. The area had becn ploced under the jurisdietion of Sard: -
Bhaktibir Thapa. . o

The success that Bam Shah attained in improving the conditic:
of the people of Kumaun eluded Hastidal in Gerhwal. In
Garhwal, any person who was unable to pay his tax or fine was
deprived of his moveabls and immoveable property, and both he
and other members of his family were sold as sSlaves. 1f any
cther person made Such peymente, he was entitled to appropriate
them as slaves. Otherwise, the slaves were sent to the Gorkhali
post near Bhimgoda.on the road leading to Har-ki-pairi in Hardwc:.
At that place, 8laves from all over Garhwal, ranging in age betw:
three years and thirty y=zars, were auctioned. 1In those days, =
Punjabi camel fetched 75 rupees in Hardwar, .and an ordinary
horse 250 to 350 rupees, but the unfortunate Garhwalis were sola
by the Gorkhzli officials for no more than 10 to 150 rupess each.

(4siatic Researches, Vol. 11, p. 459).
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In addition to those auctioned in the slave market, Gorkholi
military men kept Gerhwali women &s concubines, and Garhwali
children a3 s8laves. Their officiers did not object to such
practices. The soldiers were accompanied by their slaves and
concubines wherever they went. No provision was made for pack-
animals to transport food and military supplies, so this work
was done by the sleves and concubines. The Gorkhalis took along
with them thousands of Garhwali women and children on their
march to the western front. They also took many of them to Nep=l
when the wer was over.

The Nepal-Almora-Srinager track was of great importance
for the movement of eivil =2nd military employees, a8 well as for
the transportation of military supplies, The Hardwar-Badrin:sth
treck was also important for pilgrimage, as well as for the
slave traffie. Hestidal Chautariya repaired the track from
Devaprayag to Srinaganr. This was the easiest track in the whole
of Garhwal, which was kept in repeir through the compulsory
labor (begar) of the inhabitants of the adjoining villages.
(Traill, "Sketch of Kumsun", Asiatic R2Searches, Vol. 16, p. 142).

In 1795, Maulvi Abdul kcdir, who had been sent to Nepal
by the Ezst India Company, reported that direct trade with Tibet
wouldbe much more profitable than through Nepal. In 1803, Caeptain
Knox had suggested that the Bast India Company acquire &Almors
(kumeaun) from the Gorkhalis anyhow, So that direct trade with
Tibet through the Himalayan pascess might be possible. Thereafter,
several employecs of the Eaest india Company, as well as other
personS, began to collect geographical and other information
about kumaun, Garhwal, Doon, @&nd Sirmur. They included Crawford,
pBuchanan, Colebrooke, Heersey, Ricnerds, armd Rutherford, (hicf
of the past Indisa Company's fectory at kieshipur.

In A.D. 1808, the fest Indla Compeny sent Captain Raper
along with It. Webb and Ceptein Hearsey to Garhwal with the
permission of the government of Nepal. Their formal objective
was to identify the source of the Ganges, In April 1808, Raper
reached Hardwar. He 8sw the Gorkhali post at Bhimgoda where
Garhwalls were suctioned as slaves. With a Brahman from Kumaun,
named Harabalam, &8 his guide, Raper reached thevillage of Khadrrcodi
on April 20, wherc he met Hastidal Chautariya. It is said that
Hearsey had once Saved Hastidal's life by treating him of injuri ..
inflicted by a bear, so Hastidal felt grateful to him. Hastidel
informed the Engliishmen that he had been replaced by Bhairav
Thapa a8 Chief admiristretor of Garhwal. For that reason, Hasti: .
was unable to give much help to Raper.

Maularam obtained a reward from the royal court of Nepal
for his work Ranebahzdura-Chendrika. He also composed poems
eulogizing Ren Bahadur's 8Son, Girvan Yuddhe Bikrama Shah. Pleasec
at this, the royal court of Nepal reoconfirmed his Jagir villages
in 1865 Vikrama (A.D, 1808). It also restored his daily allowanc.
which had been stopped by tle bhardars of Srinagzar. . .
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Rudravir Chsutariya, & brother of Hastidal and Bam Shah,
had been ueputed to the hangra front in 1863 Vikrame (A.D. 1800,
along with Dalabhanjan Pance. ™TheSe two (Corkhali bhardars wer -
persuaded by Sanser Chand to lecve the fort along with his faro:
and property. But Sansar Chond did not hend over the fort to
the Gorkhalis. At this, amer Simna Thapa complained to the roy:l
court of Nepal that Rucravir Chautariya and Dalabhanjan Panae
had l1ifted the siege beceuse they had been bribed by Sansar
Chand. The court then roecalled the two Gorkhali bherdars.
Hastidael too became a victim of the roynl anger. He was remove-
from Garhwal in A.D. 1808. gheirava Thapa was then appointed
&S his successor.

Bhairav Thapa's jdministration, A,D. 1808-11

Bhairav Thapa was not a liberal adminmistrator like Hastidal
Chautariya. In fact, his behavior was harsh and cruel toward
the subjects. He looked upon foreigners with suspicion and rciscc
all sorts of obstacles before rHaper and his colleagues, who
had been granted prmission by the royal court of Nepal to tour
Garh. Bhairav Thapa's subordinate bhardars, namely, Chharnu
Bhandari, Buddhi Thapa, Paraeshuram Thapa, and Jawader Inti Rons
Gurung, were azlsc harsh and aruel.

Soon, however, the Nepal Court deputed Bhairav Thapa, Buddhi
Thapa, and Parashuram Thapa to the siecge of kangra fort. Bhairav
Thapa's duties were taken over by his son, Shishta (Shrestha)
Thapa, who had already worked in khumaun, The hamin records of
Dhangu contain the names of several Gorkhali officials who drow
their emoluments from revemues collected in that area.

These Gorkhali offici=ls, not content with their emoclumoents,
extorted extra taxes and other payments from the subjects. For
instance, they collected fires &nd penalties according to the
finanecial stutus of the offender. sSvery kamin wes required to
provide three buffasloes and two goats during the menth of Chaitra,
and four buffaloes und two goots in the month of aswin, for
gacrificial purposes during the Dashain festival.Payments had
to be made to the Subsdar and the Fouzd:ar when they were on tour.
These officials also exacted a 3-arna silver coin callsd timesi
from each family along with taxes. People had also to supply
ghee to each bhardar or military officer.

AS aresult of such oppression and exploitation, villages
became depopulated =nd lznds went out of cultivation. According
to Hearsey, the Gorkhalis sold more than 30,000 Gerhwall men,
women, and children in the slave market for their failure to pay
toxes, fines, and penalties. About 80,000 other Garhwalis fled
to the plains to escape the Gorkhali terror. These figures may
be exaggerated, but &re not wholly baseless.

Maularam sent a letter to shimsen Thapa through a trustwortiy
person recounting Garhwal's sufferings. When Bhoirav Thape cane
to kncw about thet complaint, he confiscated Maularam's Jagirs
and stopped his daily allowance. (1866 Vikrama/A.D. 1809).
Mauleram appeared before the royal court of Nepal with a pocem
eulogizing the King. Bhimsen Thapa then restored his jagirs
and allowance. However, nothing was dore to improve the conditicw
of Garhwal.
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In 1866 Vikrama/i.D. 1809, shimsen Thapa sent kunwar
Birebhadra to the kengra front. Eirabhodra wes tic son of Kunwar
Chendrabir. His mother was o daughter of LAmer Simha Thape.
Birabhadra recched Srinager in the month of Falgun. He carricd
a royal orcer restoring Mauleram's houses, orch:rds, and jrgirs:
and his daily allowance of one rupee. Ore month later, amer
Simha Thapa sent him to occupy the fort of Morani along with
Ranjor Thaps,

During the first helf of the nineteenth century, the East
Incia Company government nnce repeatec cfforts to Send its
coumercisl produets to Tibet through kumaun enc Garhwal and alsc
¢eal in the procucts of the mcunteinous region. With that
obJective, it 'had estaplishec o fectory at kashipur. In 1804,
duties on geoods solc in the fairs andg norkets of the mountainous
region were abolished. Rutherforg, manager of the keshipur fact r:,
Started supplying acvances to the frruers cf Kumaun and Garhwel
for the supply cof herip. This step uncouraged the khes peasantry
to grow hemp in large quantities~ in the Chaugerkhe ares of kumaan,
particulserly in Lekhanpur, Ltron, Ronged, Salom, Bodero, Assi,
Chesuonisi, Achhyuru, e hrar, Guwa es,’ Dhy: nir=u, arnd Talle-Chrukot ,
reasants cof the Pabile comrunity in the sachon, Lobha, Chenckot
Chancpur, Dhanpur, onc Devi lgorh in Ge rhwal were similerly cnciur:
to grew hemp. This holps@ them to mitigate to some extent tle
heevy tex burden imposec by the Gorkinli rulers. Not only the
pec8antry, but k umins, Say nc8, ond other influcntial pecple of
hunaun and Garhwel ¢8 well, @nc even Gorkhe 1i bh: rcers, sterted
naking profits from the troce in hewp fiver and cloth, hewp scace,
and chares. '

Rutherford also obrained rernission fren the roysl Court - F
Nepal to cxtract =nc erllect resip fronm the abuncant ehir trec-
found in Kumaun, Garhwal, =né Doti. The Governor-Generol h.c
written to Nepal on Lpril 10, 1809 requesting such perumission.
The resin was usec to menufacture pith ané turpentine, which wor.
cf better quality than those procurec from sritein. Trace in
hemp end resin was so importent for the gest India Company that
it mace no protest when a Gorkhsli bhardar constructed a fort
at kherl in the gast India Company's territory and stationed
troops there in 1811, when relations between Nepal and the gast
India Company had begun to Jetericrate.

L B S

(To be Continued).
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Gorkhsli Rule in Gurhwal
. ' 'B}r
Dr. Shive Prasad Dabaral "Charen"

Since oprression and exploitafion by the military ruined
Kumeun, the royual court of Nepzl sent a missicn headed by K- ji
Rewsnta there. Kaji Rewanta studied the hardships and
grievances of the people and toock =z rumber of steps to redress
them. However, he was unzble to decl with the basic problem,
that is, payment of emoluments to the military. Military
personr.el accoraingly continued oppressing and exploiting the
inhabitants of the villages theat hz=d been assigned to them for
their emoluments. In the Vikreme Year 1866 (A.D. 1809), Sub.~
Bam Shah, therefore, introauced ¢ complately new land systen
in Kumaun. The system continued until the end of Gorkhali
rule in Kumaun. A similar situstion in the Himalayan Velleys
of kumaun resulted in the introduction of a new land sysStem by
Captein Bhekti Thapa, which mitig=ted the burden of the people
to some extent. But no such step was taken to mitigite the
sufferings of the people of Garh.

In the beginning, roevenus was eSsessed in Garhwal on the
basis of the estimeted income from all sources in each villoge,
rather than from the land slone. The asscssment wis fixed ot
such a high figure that the 3Sayanas of most villages were
unable to discharge their fiscal obligations.

The Gorkhali scldiers,who were entitlec to collect revenues
from the villages assigned to them ageinst their emoluments,
severely harassed the kemins, saysnas, and other people, looted
their movable property, and even sold their women and children
as slaves. There was no one to sStop such oppression. As a
result, the people of Garhwol st sOme places even put up an
armed resistance. Such Sporszdic outbursts of violence wers
suppressed by the Gorkhalis with greoct barburity. This led to
the progressive depopulation of villages. The Gorkhalis
believed that violence and oppression were the only way in
which they could collect revenues from the impoverished
peasantry of & ruined territory and that they were entitled to
enslave men and women for default in payment of revenues. But
the more the oppression, the more the country became ruined.
There was, consejuently, delay in payment of revenues, and
arrcars accumulated. Bec#use of the armed resistance of the
peasantry and delay in collection of revenues, the Gorkhalis
sent many petitions to the royal court of Nepal. Imminent
conflict with the east Indiz Company made the court alert and
it started paying attention to the proper manegement of the
reverue SysSiem in Gerhwzal, so thz2t the emoluments of the
troops could be collected regularly.

For this purposc¢, the royal court of Nepal sent kaji
Bahadur Bnandari and Bakshi Dasharath kKhatri to Garhwal in
-the Vikrama Year 1867 (2arly 1811 A.D.). Thay were accompanied
by Subedar Simhabir Achikari and Bakhwar Simhe Basnyat.
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pauleram, in one of his writings, hes recorded thet Ranadhwe]
Thapa, Balenarasimhe, Bhim Banadur, and Gat Bahadur had been
posted in Srinagar at this time. According to a document
dated Monday, Poush Suéi 2, 1868, in the possession of the
temple of Kameleshwara in Srinagar, ke ji Bahadur Bhandari was
the chief administrator of Gerhwal, with Bakshi Dasharath
Khatri, Subedar Ajav Bhandari, Daftari Krishnananda Khanduri,
Jamadar Harku Gurung, and Hawalder Begder Khatri under him to
revise the revenue settlemert. Sardar dhairave Simha was
military commander of Garn at that time.

Kaji Bahadur bhandari clessifizd lands in all villages
of Garh into five categories, namsly, Aba&l, doyam, sim, chanzar,
and Ssukhambesi, and ecssessed revenues on the  basis of the
yield. A more or less similar System was adopted during
British rule as well. Reverue records compiled on this basis,
known :i Lal Dhadda, wer. then approved by the roysl court
of Nepal. ' :

Meanwhile, the Gorkhali army was being rapidly expanded
in order to cortimue the campcign of territorial conguest,
maintain strict controel over the conquered ststes, and provide
for the imriinent war. The royzl court of Nepal had to
mobilize new resourcss in order to pay the emoluments of troops
and bherdars stationed in extensive territories. Land
ritually gifted to Brahmans in Kumaun had already been
confisceted. Bahacur Bhendari and Dashartath Khatri
scrutinized jagir lend grents made by the kings of Garh, and
cancelled almost all of them. The grants were renewed only
in a few cases under the siguztures of Bahadar Bhandari and
Dasharath Khatri. Those whose jugir grants were reneved in
this menner included the sons of Ramepati khanduri and Dheran.clir:
Khenduri, namely, Gajachar snenduri and krishnadatta khanduri,
as well as their brothers, namely, krishnananda Khanduri and
Harshapati Khanduri. Iands pranted to temples by the kings of
Garh were similerly scritinized, and renewed uncer the sSeal of
King ¢irban Yuddha Vikra.:. However, kaji Bahadur Bhandari
confiscated the jJagirs of Maularam, even though these had been
reconfirmed under ths royal seal, and reduced his daily allowar.c
from one rupee to half a rupee.

Because the military were allowed to continue collecting
their revenues directly from the villages, these measures did
not mitigate the sufferingzs of the people of Gerh.  The tax
burden, no doubt, declined in the Doon Valley and some other
areas, ovut elsewhere villages became depcpulated and the military
were unable to persuade the fugitives to come back. Many
influentisl persons who opposec the Gorkhali ‘policies were exilecu
or put to death, and several others left Garh of their own acccra.
In the Vikrama yezr 1869 (A.D. 1812), kaji sahadur Bhandsari
was recalled to Nepal, while Desharath Khatri remained in Garh

for Some time more. | :
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Amar Simhs Thepa had extended the frontiers of the Gorkimli
wingdom to the Sutlej river. O(n Chaitra sSs=di 3, 1868 (1812),
he was granted the title of Kaji. This was the highest honor thet
could be conferred on & persorn who did not belong to the royal
family. Amar Simha was about 60 years of age at that time. He
nad spent his entire life in the vattle-field. It was his aubiiic:
to extenda the territories of his king up to kashmir. Because
he had become senile, his goal was further conquests, rather
than the proper management of the territories that had already
been conquered.

Amer Simha Thapa had great faith in the preadictions of astrmlo
Shivadatta Roy was one of such astrologers. Ho was vorn of a
Tibetan father and hacd settlcd down in the state of Bilaspur.

His predictions about tne Gorkhali conguests had earned him the
trust of Amar Simha jhapa =5 well =2s the royal court of Nepal.
Am&r Simha Thapa kept Shivadatta Roy along with him.during the
carpaign on the western front and ccnsulted him frequently. It
is said that Shivacdatta Roy had forctold the invasion of the
Yamuna-Genge basin by the East India Company.

Meanwhile, the preospects of a w-r between Nepal and the fast
India Company werse inerzesing./mor gimha Thapa sent several lettors
to the Governor-General through Ochtcrlony. He tried his best to
maintain amicable relations betwoon lepal and the East India
Company. Hastidal was appointed in Doti, and Bam Shsh in humaun,
while Amar Simha Thapa, and nis son, Hanjor Thapa, remained in
charge of the administraticn of Garh, &s well as the territorics
between the Yamna and Sutle] rivers.

In May 1811, Amar Simha Thapa conguered the southern part of
pusehar. He adopted a liberal attitude in the administration of
that territory. The wmain trsce route between the valley of the
sutle] and Tipbet passec through HusSehar. Thanks to conturies cf
trade, ths inhabitants of that state had become cultured and werc
not willing to bow down before the invader. That was the reason
why Amer Simha Thapa adopted & liberal policy toward them. But
the inhabitents ¢f Garh were unruly, turbulent, and pugnacious.
Amar Simha Thapa's rulc in Garh was, therefore, harsh and ruthless.
The Gorkhalis were never able to consolidate their hold on Busehor.
puring their brice¢f rule, they haé neither the time, nor the means,
nor even the couragc to ruin suschar's villages and kill or drive
out its inhabitants. To be sure, thay destroyed a number of forts
in Pusehar, but the havoc they wrought in Garh has no paraliel.

During'tha period from 1812 to 1815, the following pacrsons
administered Garh as reproscntatives of Amer Simha Thapa: -~

1812: Pouszdar Padmaram, Shresths Thapa, Badhu Thapa, and
Ehakti Thapa. The kamin of Dhangu posscsses cocuments listing
meny other Gorkhsli bhardaars and militsry officers.

-~



1813: Subedar Tuleararx . dhikari, Sardar Bhairava Simhs, anc
Rana or Thapa. '

1814; Subedar Tularan Lchikari, Subcdar Hikmat Simha, Su.:oo
Ramakrishna, Fouzdar Kalu Pancs, Fouzdar Hari Ranae, kaji Arjun.

1815: Subecar Tularam Adbikeri, Bhaktwar Simhe Basnyet,
gardar Bhairava Simha, and Fouzdar Sawayen (Som) Giri.

Jagir grants were mace to several persons by Amar Simha
Thapae in 1869-T70 Vikrame (4.D. 1812-13), and in 1871 Vikrams
(A.D. 1814) by Ranajor Thapa. One such grant was made by SQubed:
Hikmat Simbha also in 1871 Vikrama (A.D. 1814).

In a.D., 1812, Moorecroft and Captain Hearsey travelled to
Tibet through kumaun and Garhwal in orcer to gain information
about 8hawl wool. Hearsey had travelled to dedrinath along with
Rﬂpﬂr in 4.D. 1808. In s.D. 181‘[, he had purchﬂsed the Pf_‘.fgalln.'-"l
of Chandi and the Doon Vellcy fircem Sucarshan Shah, son of king
Pradyumna Shah of Garh. During the 1812 c¢xpedition, Heersey w:es
in charge of locating the route with the help of a compass and
recoréing accounts of the journcy. The party incluced Gulam Heaior
Khan an¢ Harakaeo Pandit. The Pendit was responsible for ascertai:
distances on the route by ccunting the rmumber of footsteps. Two
of his steps were equal to four feet. Mcoorecroft and his
companiong were (ressed as Gosain pilgrims. They had alsoc =zbout
fifty porters from the hills slong with them. '

On May 9, 1812, mouorecrort ard his party reached kumaun
through Remnager, anc, travelling through the valley of the
Remegenga, reached karnaprayzg. On May 24, they recched Joshicath.
Two years previously, (olonel Col:brooke had used the samc
route to visit humaun. Cn June 4, Moorccroft and his party
reached hitigaon. They returned from Mansarover on August 8. On
their back, loorecroft anc Hearsey put on guropean clothes.

In October, Bandm Thap:, the Gorkhaii Bhardar of Chandpur, inguir
why they were trevelling without permission in Gorkhali territory
in disguise. He was told that the Tibetan government did not

let any Buropean visit Tivpet, So it was necessary to be disguiscd
a8 Gosein pilgrims. Benchu Thapa wes also told that thousands of
Nepalis visitec the territories of the East India Company every
day without any hincrance, sSo the Gorkhali govermment should
rais¢ no objection if Huropeans visited its territory. These
explanations apparcntly satisfied Bandhu Thepa, but on QOctober 19
Gorkhali bherdars on the border arrested them. They were relcascc
on November 5 on the orders of Subba sem Shah of kumaun. Heers.y
has written an interesting account of his travels in Kumaun anc

Garhwal.

The southern bouncaries of the territories conquered by
Nepal touched the territories of the Bast India’ Company and itc
protectorates. border cl:shes soon began in the Terai, where
the boundaries of those imperialist powerstouched each other.
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When efforts to resolve such disputes in a peaceful manner

failed, the Goverrnor General, Lord bMinto, wrete a strongly-worc o
letter to the King of Nupel on June 4, 1813. This increasec the
possibilitiecs of war. I1orc Minto's Successor, the Marquess

of Hastings (Lord Moira), essumed office on October 4, 1813 as
Governor-Gener. 1 and Commencere Relations between Nepal and

the Bast India Company progressively worsened, and, on November

1, 1814, the gast India Company declared war. The corders betwocn
Nepal and the Bast India Company in the Garh region were not in
dispute, but from the viewpoint of military strategy it was noecoesse
fer the East Indie Company to occupy Gerh and seperate the
Gorkhali army into two parts. For that resson, the forces of

" the gast Incia Comperny inveced thz Doon Valley on October 22, 1E£14.

The administration of Gerh remeined in the hands of
Subedar Tularam Acdhikari until ,,pril 1815. Bakhtwar Simha
bBasnyat was sent there orly = few cays before the war ended.
wWhen the East India Compnoy occupi~d kumeun in May 1815, Bakhtwar
Simha Basnyat returned to Nepal along with the bhardars and
dlitrry officers of Srinagnr.
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king Rams Shah

By
Dinesh Raj Panta

Gorakhako Itihesa (4 history of Gorkha), kathmendu: the author,
2041 (1985), pt. 1, pp. 82-111 (Concensed).

~After the death of Chhatra Sheh betwgen 1666 andé 1671 Vikr:-: .
his brother, Rems Shah, ascenced the throne of Gorkha.

Rama Shah visited Parbat to marry the daughter of king
Raja Malla. However, the wedding did not take plece because of
the disrespect shown to Rema Shah by king Raja Malla. On the
way back to Gorkha, Rawa Shah met Norayana Malle in Galkot, who
offered him the hancd of his nicce, 2 princess of Musikot. The
wedding accordingly took place et Galkot. :

In his Malladarsha, Premanichi Panta has described aing
Raja Malle of Parbat as the son of ring Naraeysna Malla of Galkc:,
Nerayana Malla had divided his kingdom among his three scrs.,

The elcest son, vitari Malla, became king of Galkot, whilc
the second son, Raja Mallea, received the kingdom of Pervat. I+t
seems that Narayane Malls was living with his ¢ldest son in
Galkot, rathor than with his second son in Parbat. [pparently
dissatisfiec with the bechavior of his scconc Son, Raja Malla, and
with the aim of mcintaining emicable relations with Gorkha, he
Eﬁ:ﬁs to have offerec the hanc of his niece in marrisge to leans
S .



